THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2018-000475

RECEIVED

SEP 24 2018

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA **S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Docket No. 2017-32-E

3109 Hwy. 25 S. L.L.C. d/b/a
25 Drive-In and Tommy McCutcheon,

Respondent,

v.

Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Frank R. Ellerbe, III, Esquire
Samuel J. Wellborn, Esquire
Sowell Gray Robinson Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803.929.1400

Rebecca J. Dulin, Esquire
Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC
1201 Main Street, Suite 1180
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803.988.7130

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WAS THE COMMISSION'S DECISION TO ORDER THAT RESPONDENT BE PLACED BACK ON THE GREENWOOD RATE AN ERROR OF LAW, WHERE THE COMMISSION MADE A DETERMINATION THAT THE ELECTRICITY DEMAND OF RESPONDENT'S BUSINESS REQUIRED A NEW CONNECTION SO THAT DUKE ENERGY CAROLINAS LLC COULD SAFELY PROVIDE ELECTRIC SERVICE TO RESPONDENT'S BUSINESS?
2. WAS THERE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S DECISION, WHERE THE ONLY EVIDENCE PRESENTED SHOWED THAT THE INCREASED DEMAND FROM RESPONDENT'S BUSINESS REQUIRED AN UPGRADE IN FACILITIES CONSTITUTING A NEW CONNECTION FOR THE SERVICE PROVIDED TO RESPONDENT BY DUKE ENERGY CAROLINAS, LLC?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 27, 2017, 3109 Hwy. 25 S., L.L.C. d/b/a 25 Drive-In and Tommy McCutcheon (“Respondent”) filed a complaint with the Public Service Commission of South Carolina (“Commission”) seeking to have Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC (“DEC”) return the electric service account for Respondent’s business from the standard DEC rate to the previous rate, known as the “Greenwood Rate,” effective June 18, 2015. On November 8, 2017, the Commission issued an order permitting Respondent to return to the previous rate, effective January 1, 2018, unless and until Respondent’s peak electricity usage exceeds the capacity of the previously installed facilities. On February 13, 2018, the Commission issued an order denying rehearing. On March 15, 2018, DEC served the Notice of Appeal on Respondent.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arose in the summer of 2015 when the electric service lines to Respondent's business overheated, melted and burned on two different occasions. After the second incident, DEC replaced and upgraded the service lines to the business, thereby establishing a "new connection" for Respondent's business. Under Act 1293 of 1966, 1966 Acts 3294 ("the Act" or "Act 1293") and this Court's opinion in *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, 304 S.C. 447, 405 S.E.2d 399 (1991), as a result of the new connection, established by DEC to fulfill its obligations to provide safe and reliable electric service, Respondent no longer qualified for the "Greenwood Rate." Accordingly, DEC transferred Respondent's business to its standard rate approved by the Commission.

Respondent operates a drive-in movie theater in Greenwood, South Carolina located on Highway 25 South, and which is served by DEC. The drive-in first opened in the 1940s and was purchased by Respondent in 2008. (R. p. 4; Order No. 2017-774, p. 2.) The drive-in property had been served by DEC under the Greenwood Rate prior to Respondent's purchase, and the Greenwood Rate was allowed to continue after Respondent purchased the property. (R. p. 4; Order No. 2017-774, p. 2.) Prior to Respondent's purchase of the drive-in, it had not operated in 25 years. (R. p. 4; Order No. 2017-774, p. 2.) At the time of the purchase, the movie theatre featured one outdoor movie screen. Respondent installed an additional movie screen in 2008, and another screen in 2016. (R. p. 4; Order No. 2017-774, p. 2.) (R. pp. 193-194; Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 53-54.) Over the years, Respondent has also added projection equipment, cooking equipment, a refrigerator, and other items. (R. p. 4; Order No. 2017-774, p. 2.) (R. p. 194; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 54.) Following Respondent's purchase of the business in 2008, annual electricity usage increased from an average

of 4,927 KWh between the years 2000 and 2007 to an average of 48,186 KWh between the years 2009 and 2016. (R. p. 101; Lunsford Test., Ex. A.)

One Saturday evening, on May 30, 2015 at approximately 10:00 p.m., while the drive-in was showing a movie and serving its customers, it experienced a power outage which was accompanied by sparking, a melted electric service line, and a melted fuse in the pole-mounted transformer serving the drive-in. (R. p. 5; Order No. 2017-774, p. 3) (R. pp. 72-73, 76, 78-83; Fowler Test., pp. 3, 4, Ex. A, Ex. C) (R. pp. 96, 99; Lunsford Test., pp. 4, 7). DEC repaired its electric facilities and restored power to the drive-in. (R. p. 5; Order No. 2017-774, p. 3) (R. p. 72; Fowler Test., p. 3). Again, on June 13, 2015, another Saturday night two weeks later, at approximately 9:40 p.m. the drive-in experienced another outage with sparking, a melted electric service line, a melted transformer fuse, and smoke damage. (R. p. 5; Order No. 2017-774, p. 3) (R. pp. 72, 73; Fowler Test., pp. 3, 4). According to DEC records, a report was phoned in that the electric service line serving Respondent's business was on fire, and that the fire department had been contacted. (R. pp. 73, 77; Fowler Test., p. 4, Ex. B).

DEC technicians determined that the outages and associated melted lines and fuses were caused by thermal overload resulting from an increased electricity demand from Respondent's business. (R. p. 5; Order No. 2017-774, p. 3) (R. p. 73; Fowler Test., p. 4). Although the original service line providing power to Respondent's business was rated for only 185 amperes, actual demand of the theater was later calculated to be 225 amperes, or about 122% of the rating of the line. (R. pp. 5-6; Order No. 2017-774, pp. 3-4) (R. pp. 96-97; Lunsford Test., pp. 4-5). Given the safety concern associated with the risk of fire, DEC advised Respondent on June 17, 2015, and Respondent signed a letter acknowledging, that the electric facilities would need to be upgraded, and that such upgrade would result in Respondent being transferred from the Greenwood Rate to

the standard DEC rate. (R. pp. 96-97; Fowler Test., pp. 4-5) (R. p. 89, 92; Lane Test., p. 3, Exhibit A). On June 18, 2015, DEC upgraded the facilities serving Respondent's business by replacing the single run of 2/0-3 aluminum triplex wire serving Respondent's business with a dual run of 4/0-3 aluminum triplex wire and replacing the 25 KVA transformer with a 50 KVA transformer. (R. p. 7; Fowler Test., p. 5). The new facilities were capable of handling a significantly greater load from Respondent's business. (R. p. 7; Order No. 2017-774, p. 5). Following the upgrade of the facilities and subsequent reconnection of Respondent's business, DEC transferred Respondent from the Greenwood Rate to the applicable DEC rate. (R. p. 6; Order No. 2017-774, p. 4). That transfer occurred on June 18, 2015. The Complaint was filed on January 27, 2017, approximately eighteen months later.

The Greenwood Rate, which is at the center of the dispute in this proceeding, is a product of Act 1293. The Act was adopted in 1966 to approve a contract negotiated between the Greenwood County Electric Power Commission ("GEPC") and DEC's predecessor, Duke Power Company ("Duke Power"), by which Duke Power acquired the facilities of GEPC. The Act included the following provision regarding the rates to be charged to customers who were being transferred:

The rates to be charged for electric power for all connections which exist *at the consummation of the sale* shall be the lower of the rates charged by the Greenwood County Electric Power Commission and Duke Power Company and the same shall not be grounds for any claim alleging discrimination. The rates to be charged for electric power for connections *after the date of the sale* shall be the applicable rates of Duke Power Company. As used herein the word "connections" shall be deemed to mean the physical connection of a resident or business establishment and shall have no reference to the person or business firm occupying the premises so connected, and the benefit of the lower rate shall continue although the person or firm occupying such premises may change from time to time.

(R. pp. 468-472; Act No. 1293, 1966 S.C. Acts 3294 (emphasis added) (Act 1293).

The rate charged for all existing connections became known as the “Greenwood Rate.” The Commission issued Order No. E-976 a few months following the enactment of Act 1293. In that order, the Commission directed, with regard to customers eligible for the Greenwood Rate, that “whenever a customer is disconnected for any reason, the proper Duke rate shall be applied when the customer is reconnected.” (R. pp. 14-18; Order No. E-976, Docket No. 13,277 (issued July 13, 1966)). Based on Act 1293, Order No. E-976, and related precedent, when a customer’s electricity demand requires that the facilities serving that customer be upgraded, DEC performs the upgrade and establishes a new connection with the customer, and thereafter transfers the customer from the legacy Greenwood Rate to the standard DEC rate.

This matter came before the Commission on the Complaint of Respondent and his business on January 27, 2017, claiming that DEC wrongly removed Respondent’s business from the Greenwood Rate. After hearings on this matter on April 5, 2017 and April 19, 2017, the Commission issued Order No. 2017-774 on December 21, 2017. That order determined that the transformer fuse had melted, which was indicative of excess current flow, and which would result in a thermal overload. (R. p. 5; Order No. 2017-774, p. 3). The order also determined that DEC was required to upgrade the facilities in order to safely provide service to Respondent. (R. p. 7; Order No. 2017-774, p. 5). However, instead of recognizing the upgraded electric facilities as a new connection, thereby disqualifying Respondent from the Greenwood Rate, Order No. 2017-774 required DEC to place Respondent back on the Greenwood Rate, effective January 1, 2018, unless and until the demand of Respondent’s business exceeds the capacity of the facilities that were replaced in June 2015. (R. pp. 7-8; Order No. 2017-774, pp. 5-6). DEC requested rehearing of this decision, and the Commission issued an order denying rehearing on February 13, 2018 (“Order Denying Rehearing”).

ARGUMENTS

1. BECAUSE THE COMMISSION DETERMINED THAT THE DEMAND OF RESPONDENT'S BUSINESS EXCEEDED THE CAPACITY OF THE FACILITIES IN PLACE TO SERVE RESPONDENT, DEC'S ACTIONS IN REPLACING AND UPGRADING THE FACILITIES CONSTITUTED A "NEW CONNECTION" AND THE COMMISSION'S DECISION TO RETURN RESPONDENT TO THE GREENWOOD RATE WAS AN ERROR OF LAW.

In Order No. 2017-774 the Commission determined that the demand of Respondent's business exceeded the capacity of the previously-installed electric facilities and threatened DEC's ability to safely provide electricity. (R. pp. 6-7; Order No. 2017-774, pp. 4-5). DEC responded appropriately and upgraded the facilities serving Respondent. This upgrade was a "new connection" under Act 1293, and, accordingly, it was an error of law for the Commission to order DEC to transfer Respondent to the Greenwood Rate.

Standard of Review

This appeal from orders of the Commission is governed by the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-310 *et seq.* The arguments advanced in this section of this brief address errors of law committed by the Commission. The standard of review is found in S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380 which allows reversal of the Commission where substantial rights of DEC have been prejudiced because the Commission's decision is affected by an error of law.

A. Pursuant to Act 1293 and Related Precedent, DEC Properly Transferred Respondent from the Greenwood Rate Upon Respondent's Need for a New Connection

Act 1293 established that the rates to be charged for electric power for "connections" made after the sale of GEPC to Duke Power in 1966 would be the applicable rates of Duke Power (now DEC). (R. p. 471; Act 1293 § 4(3)). Act 1293 defines "connections" as "the physical connection of a resident or business establishment." (R. p. 471; Act 1293 § 4(3)). In 1966, following the enactment of Act 1293 the Commission issued Order No. E-976 to address the manner in which it

interpreted the “new connection” provisions in Act 1293. In that order, the Commission directed that “whenever a customer is disconnected for any reason, the proper Duke rate shall be applied when the customer is reconnected.” (R. pp. 14-18; Order No. E-976, Docket No. 13,277 (issued July 13, 1966). This order has not been modified.

There are different scenarios in which DEC will treat—and courts have recognized—a reconnection as a “new connection,” including where “the customer’s electrical needs changed, requiring changes in the equipment Duke had to provide to serve the premises,” (R. p. 36; *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, No. 85-CP-24-381, at 18 (8th Cir. Mar. 22, 1990), *aff’d*, 304 S.C. 447, 405 S.E.2d 399 (1991)) or where “a location’s electric demand increased to the point Duke deem[s] it a ‘new connection.’” *Duke Power Co. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 284 S.C. 81, 87, 326 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1985).

The leading case on the Greenwood Rate is *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, *supra*. *Payne* was a class action suit filed in the Court of Common Pleas for Greenwood County on the question of whether Duke Power had violated Act 1293 by “systematically transferring the members of the Plaintiff Class to the Duke Power Company rate schedule.” The Circuit Court order in *Payne* is instructive in understanding and interpreting Act 1293.¹ (R. pp. 19-43; *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, No. 85-CP-24-381 (8th Cir. Mar. 22, 1990), *aff’d*, 304 S.C. 447, 405 S.E.2d 399 (1991). The trial court in that case had the benefit of testimony of the legal counsel at the Commission who drafted Order No. E-976, as well as the testimony of four successive General Counsels of the Commission. (R. p. 42; *id.* at 24). The Court explained that one of the reasons a customer would be transferred

¹ In *City of Orangeburg v. Moss*, 262 S.C. 299, 204 S.E.2d 377 (1974) this Court held that orders of the Circuit Court and the Public Service Commission were persuasive but not binding authority. DEC submits that the *Payne* circuit court order is especially persuasive in this matter, both because it was affirmed by this Court and because it addresses the precise question presented by this case.

from the Greenwood Rate to the standard Duke rate is “when the customer’s electrical needs changed, requiring changes in the equipment Duke had to provide to serve the premises. This was a ‘new’ connection, and under the terms of Act 1293 and PSC Order No. E-976, the standard Duke rate was thereafter applicable to the location.” (R. p. 36; *id.* at 18.). The Court explained that transfers from the Greenwood Rate to the standard DEC rate

took place because the language of Act 1293 referred specifically to the connection as it existed on the date of the sale. Any subsequently changed connections requiring increased investment in the service facilities by Duke was a “new” connection and the Act required that it be placed on the applicable Duke rate schedule. . . . The old Greenwood County rate schedules available to “old” connections were closed on July 1, 1966. A change in connections is, in effect, a “new connection,” no longer eligible for the old Greenwood County rate.

(R. p. 36; *id.*) This Court affirmed the trial court’s order, reiterating the language of Act 1293 that “[t]he rates to be charged . . . for connections *after* the date of the sale shall be the applicable rates of Duke Power Company.” *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, 304 S.C. 447, at 452, 405 S.E.2d at 402 (emphasis original).

The facts of this case present the same situation the Court described in *Payne* that constitute a “new connection” and thus a proper transfer from the Greenwood Rate to the Duke Power rate. The record in the instant case demonstrates, and Order No. 2017-774 acknowledges, that: (1) the customer’s demand exceeded the rating of the service line and (2) upgrade of the electric facilities was necessary to ensure continued safe and reliable electric service. (R. p. 7; Order No. 2017-774, p. 5). Accordingly, and pursuant to the instruction affirmed by this Court in *Payne*, once the upgrade was completed, a new connection was established with the customer such that transfer of Respondent from the Greenwood Rate was required by Act 1293. Once the new connection was placed into service, Respondent, as a matter of law, no longer qualified for the Greenwood Rate.

As a result, the Commission's order transferring Respondent back to the Greenwood Rate is an error of law.

B. Act 1293 and Related Precedent Prohibit Retransfer to the Greenwood Rate.

The Commission's order retransferring Respondent to the Greenwood Rate is contrary to the statutory directive of Act 1293 and is an arbitrary and capricious departure from the Commission's precedent, which has been recognized by this Court, prohibiting retransfers to the Greenwood Rate. Indeed, in its Order Denying Rehearing, the Commission acknowledged that "Act 1293 does not provide an opportunity to re-qualify for the Greenwood Rate." (R. p. 12; Order No. 2018-101, p. 3. (citing *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, 304 S.C. 447, 405 S.E.2d 399 (1991)) (Order Denying Rehearing)). Further, this Court in *Payne* recognized that the "PSC, the agency charged with administering Act 1293, has, without exception, construed it as establishing a closed rate schedule, that is, one precluding retransfer of customers." *Payne*, 304 S.C. at 451-52, 405 S.E.2d at 401. Nevertheless, Order No. 2017-774 required that Respondent be returned to the Greenwood Rate effective "the first billing cycle after January 1, 2018."

In permitting Respondent an opportunity to re-qualify for the Greenwood Rate after a "new connection" was required in order to continue service, Order No. 2017-774 has the effect of rewriting the provisions of Act 1293 by which the General Assembly established the criteria for customers' eligibility for the Greenwood Rate. This aspect of the holding of Order No. 2017-774 is in conflict with the holding in *Duke Power Co. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n* that Act 1293 deprived the Commission of jurisdiction to disturb the terms set by the General Assembly, and it is an error of law for Order No. 2017-774 to alter the terms of Act 1293.

C. The Commission's Application of Equity Was Erroneous

Order No. 2017-774 erroneously directs DEC to retransfer Respondent to the Greenwood Rate in an effort to balance equities between DEC, which “[took] action to safely provide power in what was an unsafe situation,” and Respondent, who “[took] measures to ensure compliance with the [Greenwood] Rate.” (R. p. 7; Order No. 2017-774, p. 5). As explained above, the Commission’s effort to balance equities by retransferring Respondent to the Greenwood rate directly conflicts with the provisions of Act 1293. Accordingly, the retransfer is unlawful and beyond the authority of the Commission. The Commission “is a body of limited jurisdiction and has only such powers as are conferred, expressly or by reasonably necessary implication, or such as are merely incidental to the powers expressly granted.” *Black River Electric Cooperative v. Public Service Commission*, 238 S.C. 282, 120 S.E.2d 6 (1961). *See also, Beard-Laney v. Darby*, 213 S.C. 380, 49 S.E.2d 564 (1948) (“The power to make rules does not of course extend to the enlargement of statutory powers, nor to the liberalization of the policy of the law beyond the provisions of the governing statutes.”).

The result required by Act 1293 and recognized by the jurisprudence of the Commission and this Court, was that a customer would remain on the Greenwood Rate unless and until a new connection was established, after which the customer would be transferred to the standard DEC rate. As discussed *supra*, Act 1293 dictates that the rates to be charged for new connections established after the 1966 sale of GEPC to Duke Power are the standard Duke Power rates and the Commission does not have the authority to override the statutory requirements by citing to “equity.” In light of these facts, the Commission may not fashion a new remedy contrary to that provided for in Act 1293. Instead, its equitable powers must yield to the law, which requires a one-way transfer of Respondent to the standard DEC rate.

2. THERE IS NO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE CONCLUSION OF ORDER NO. 2017-774 THAT RESPONDENT WAS ELIGIBLE FOR THE GREENWOOD RATE.

Standard of Review

The argument in this section of the brief is governed by the “substantial evidence rule” as found in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(e) (2015). The substantial evidence rule has been defined as “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” *Hamm v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of S.C.*, 310 S.C. 13, 16-17, 425 S.E.2d 28, 30 (1992) (citations omitted).

A. The Only Finding Supported by Substantial Evidence Was that the Upgraded Facilities Serving Respondent Constituted a New Connection Disqualifying Respondent from the Greenwood Rate.

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