**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

RECEIVED

SEP 24 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No 2018-000475

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Docket Number 2017-32-E

3109 Hwy. 25 S., L.L.C. d/b/a/
25 Drive-In and Tommy McCutcheon,

Respondent,

v.

Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Alexander G. Shissias
John J. Fantry, Jr.
The Shissias Law Firm, LLC
1727 Hampton Street
Columbia, SC 29201
803-540-3090
*Attorneys for 3109 Hwy. 25 S., L.L.C.
d/b/a/ 25 Drive-In and Tommy
McCutcheon*

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

ARGUMENTS

1. THE COMMISSION'S DECISION DIRECTING APPELLANT TO ALLOW RESPONDENT TO CONTINUE ON THE GREENWOOD RATE WAS NOT AN ERROR OF LAW. THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO PROVE THAT THERE HAD BEEN A "CHANGE IN THE CHARACTER" OF RESPONDENT'S CONNECTION WITHIN THE MEANING OF ACT 1293 AND PRECEDENT INTERPRETING THE ACT.

In case 2017-32-E, the Commission was required to rule on the question of whether DEC had proven that Respondent's use of its facility constituted a "new connection" within the meaning of Act 1293. The Commission found that DEC had not presented sufficient proof as to whether Respondent's use of its facility constituted a "new connection," and properly ordered Appellant to restore Respondent to the Greenwood Rate.

Standard of Review

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, the Court may reverse orders of the Commission where it finds that the rights of an appellant have been prejudiced because of errors of law.

- A. The Commission properly interpreted Act 1293 and Precedent in finding that DEC failed to prove that Respondent's use of its facility constituted a "new connection."*

Under Act 1293, the rates to be charged for connections made *after* the sale of GEPC to Duke in 1966 would be Duke (now DEC) rates. Connections in existence at the time of the sale remained on the "old" Greenwood Rate. (R. p.471). As Appellant notes, in PSC Order E-976, Docket No. 13,277 (July 13, 1966) the Commission found that when a customer is disconnected, the customer must be put on the Duke Rate upon reconnection. However, what neither the Act nor Order E-976 discussed was the circumstances (other than disconnection) under which a connection could change from an existing to a "new connection" for the purposes of the rate. The

only precedent on the matter is the Supreme Court's ruling in *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, 304 S.C. 447, 405 S.E.2d 399 (1991).

Appellant cites *Duke Power Co. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 284 S.C. 81,87,326 S.E.2d 395,399 (1985) for the proposition that in cases where a location's electric demand increases Duke is legally allowed to deem it a new connection. It is important to note that in *Duke Power Co. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, the Court was not adjudicating the propriety of Duke's policy; the Court simply cited that this was Duke's practice. Specifically, the Court states:

Duke, as a result, billed its Greenwood County customers under a dual rate structure for 15 years. It has transferred Greenwood rate customers to its system-wide rates whenever (1) bills under system-wide rates for a location became less than the Greenwood rates; (2) a location required a new physical connection; and (3) a location's electric demand increased to the point Duke deemed it a "new connection."

Duke Power Co. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 284 S.C. at 87, 326 S.E.2d at 399. What is of interest here is that nowhere in the Order does the Court rule on whether Duke's practice in (3) *infra* was proper. DEC is improperly suggesting that this Court somehow reviewed and "recognized"⁶ this practice as proper.

Second, Appellant improperly cites to the circuit court's order in *Payne* as persuasive authority, in violation of Rule 268, SCACR.⁷ In an attempt to circumvent this requirement, Appellant cites to a case that predates Rule 268, SCACR, *City of Orangeburg v. Moss*, 262 S.C. 299, 204 S.E. 2d 377 (*per curium*) (1974). In *Moss*, the significant fact noted was that the Supreme Court had previously refused to grant certiorari on a particular issue that the circuit court had ruled

⁶ Brief of Appellant p. 8.

⁷ Appellant also included a copy of the circuit court's Order as part of the Record on Appeal, which is appropriate, as it was submitted for consideration by the Commission. However, it should not be cited as legal authority, persuasive or otherwise.

on in a prior case involving the same subject matter, instead disposing of that prior case on standing grounds without ruling on a jurisdictional issue. In so doing, the Court in *Moss* implied that the circuit court had properly dealt with the issue in earlier litigation. The same cannot be said in the case of *Payne*, where the Supreme Court specifically considered the question of connection. In *Payne*, the circuit court decision comprises 43 pages and lists a multitude of situations where a customer's connection becomes a "new" connection.⁸ However, the Supreme Court issued a mere four-page order, finding:

With reference to customers in subclasses (b)⁹ and (c)¹⁰, we agree with the trial court that a change in either the character of the connection...*e.g.* that a change in either the character of the connection (*e.g.* from single to three phase) or use of the premises (*e.g.* from residential to commercial) constitutes a new connection effectuating a transfer to Duke rates.

Payne v. Duke Power Co., 304 S.C. 451, 452, 405 S.E.2d 399, 401-402 (S.C., 1991). In the list of changes that the circuit court in *Payne* called a change in the "character" of the connection constituting a "new" connection, the circuit court never mentioned a change from single to three phase as a change in the "character" of the connection. Instead, the Supreme Court arrived at that conclusion independently. The Supreme Court only found that a change in the "character" of the connection constitutes a "new" connection and declined to fully define the universe of situations where a change in "character" of a connection could be said to have occurred and allowed the PSC to exercise the powers retained after the legislature fixed the Greenwood Rates in Act 1293.¹¹ In

⁸ This 28-year old circuit court case is not persuasive authority under Rule 268, SCACR.

⁹ Customers transferred as a result of a change in the "character of the connection." *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, 304 S.C. at 451, 405 S.E.2d at 401.

¹⁰ Customers transferred as a result of a change in the use of the premises from commercial to residential. *Id.*

¹¹ In *Duke Power v. Public Service Commission*, *supra*, this Court held that Act 1293 divested PSC of jurisdiction to raise the old Greenwood rates. However, PSC is not prohibited from exercising its regulatory authority in a manner consistent with the Act. *Payne v. Duke Power Co.*, 304 S.C. at 401 n.6 405 S.E.2d at 402 n.6.

the case before the Court, the Public Service Commission also declined to further define the phrase “change in the character” of a connection in its Order (R. pp.3-9).

However, what is clear is that neither the Supreme Court in *Payne*, nor the Commission in this case have ever held that an “upgrade” (whatever that means) to a customer’s system automatically constitutes a change in the “character of the connection.” Appellant uses the words “upgrade” or “upgraded” some sixteen times in its brief, and the record below is absolutely riddled with the term. However, what is missing is any authority for the proposition that an “upgrade” in the form of new equipment (in this case, a larger transformer and a thicker service wire) constitutes a change in the “character” of the connection in this case. Further, the Commission found it significant that Respondent took pains to keep its power usage within the limits of the system installed (R. p.6) and that it was impossible for Appellant to produce credible evidence as to the amperage demand on the nights of the outages, as the equipment from which it derived its estimates were only installed after DEC installed the new power supply. (*Id.*) In its Order, the Commission simply found an inadequacy of information available to make a determination as to whether such a change in character occurred or whether changes were necessitated due solely to the actions of the Complainant. (*Id.*) The Commission simply treated this case as a failure of proof on the part of DEC.

B. The Commission did not commit legal error in restoring Respondent to the Greenwood Rate

Appellant mischaracterizes the Commission’s action as “retransferring”¹² Respondent to the Greenwood Rate or allowing Respondent to “requalify”¹³ for the Rate in apparent violation of

¹² Brief of Appellant p. 10.

¹³ *Id.*

Act 1293 and the Supreme Court's holding in *Payne*. Appellant's argument is inapposite. The Commission found that following Appellant's physical disconnection of Respondent's power supply, Appellant had improperly placed Respondent on the Duke Rate as a condition of restoration of service. The Commission merely required Appellant to correct its error. Appellant is suggesting that after changing a customer from the Greenwood Rate to the Duke Rate for any reason (even an improper or unlawful reason) the Commission lacks the authority to order Appellant to right such a wrong. This would lead to an absurd result and would deprive the Commission of any meaningful authority to review consumer complaint cases under S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-830.

C. The Commission did not erroneously apply equity in granting Respondent relief

Appellant mischaracterizes the Commission's action as an improper exercise of equitable relief. As a threshold matter, the Commission undoubtedly has the authority to issue injunctive relief in some instances. Where the Commission has determined that a rate charged by an electrical utility is unjust, unreasonable, or in any way in violation of any provision of law, the Commission may determine the proper rate and fix that proper rate by order. The General Assembly has explicitly conferred upon the Commission the authority to act in these circumstances. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-850.

Whether or not an action is equitable or legal in nature is based on the nature of the relief sought. In a case where a party seeks damages, the relief sought is legal. *Compare O'Shea v. Lesser*, 308 S.C. 10, 14, 416 S.E.2d 629, 631 (1992) (action for breach of restrictive covenants was at law where Plaintiff sought damages) *with Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. 1, 3, n. 2, 498 S.E.2d

862, 864, n. 2 (1998) (action to enforce restrictive covenants by injunction is in equity). Broadly speaking, whenever the Commission issues an order requiring a party to take action or to refrain from taking action, the nature of the relief ordered is injunctive, and therefore equitable in nature.

The Commission is a creature of statute. This Court has held that statutorily created agencies possess only those powers which are "...specifically delineated." *City of Columbia v. Bd. of Health and Env'tl Control*, 292 S.C. 199, 202, 355 S.E.2d 536, 538 (1987) However, "[b]y necessity however, a regulatory body possesses not only the powers expressly conferred on it but also those which must be inferred or implied to effectively carry out the duties for which it is charged. *Id.* See also *Carolina Water Service, Inc. v. S.C. Public Service Comm'n*, 272 S.C. 81, 248 S.E.2d 924 (1978); *City of Rock Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl Control*, 394 S.E.2d 327, 302 S.C. 161 (1990).

A leading case discussing when an administrative tribunal is asked to exceed its explicit or implied statutory authority is *S.C. Dep't of Consumer Affairs v. Foreclosure Specialists, Inc.*, 390 S.C. 182, 700 S.E.2d 468 (Ct. App. 2010). In *Foreclosure Specialists* the Court of Appeals discussed the limited statutory authority of the Administrative Law Court. The case was brought by the Department of Consumer Affairs under the Consumer Credit Counseling Act. The Department had requested that the ALC find that the Respondent had violated the statute, that Respondent be ordered to cease and desist from further unlicensed credit counseling, that Respondent pay a fine, and that Respondent refund fees collected from customers. The Administrative Law Court held that it lacked the statutory authority to order refunds as the enabling statute required such an action to be filed in circuit court, and the Court of Appeals agreed.

In contrast, here the Public Service Commission was not asked to, and did not exercise any power beyond that explicitly granted to it or necessarily implied to it by its enacting legislation to

effectuate its jurisdiction. It cannot be denied that the Commission has the jurisdiction to review customer complaint cases under S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-830, determine when the actions of a regulated utility are improper or unauthorized, and in such cases determine the proper rate and fix that proper rate by order pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-850. In issuing its Order the Commission decided the case on legal principles, not on equitable principles such as estoppel, laches, or unclean hands.¹⁴

The Commission has the authority to order that actions improperly or unlawfully undertaken be corrected. Without such authority, the Commission would lack the ability to provide meaningful review, and its jurisdiction over such cases would be rendered a nullity. Statutes should be construed to give force and effect to all their provisions. *Nucor Steel v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 310 S.C. 539, 426 S.E.2d 319 (1992). In this case, the Commission simply found that Appellant had improperly removed Respondent from the Greenwood Rate, having acted without proper justification. In ordering Respondent restored to the Rate, the Commission acted squarely within the ambit of its authority.

2. THE RECORD CONTAINS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S CONCLUSION IN ORDERS NO. 2017-774 AND 2018-101 THAT RESPONDENT SHOULD BE PLACED ON THE GREENWOOD RATE.

Standard of Review

The argument in this section of the brief is governed by the “substantial evidence rule” as found in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(6)(e) (2015). The substantial evidence rule provides that a decision will not be set aside simply because reasonable minds may differ on the conclusion reached by the tribunal below. *Lark v. Bi-Lo*, 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). The

¹⁴ While it accuses the Commission of deciding the case on equitable principles, Appellant fails to specify which equitable principle(s) the Commission allegedly relied upon in issuing its Orders.

fact that the record, when considered as a whole, presents the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence. *Waters v. S.C. Land Resources Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 226, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1995). In applying the substantial evidence rule, the factual findings of the administrative agency are presumed to be correct. *Rodney v. Michelin Tire Co.*, 320 S.C. 515, 518, 466 S.E.2d 357, 359 (1996).

A. *The record in this case contains sufficient facts to allow the Commission to make findings of fact upon which to support its decision.*

The record in this case testimony that a new 2/0 wire begins to fail at a load in excess of 185 sustained amperes. Appellant's expert¹⁵ and Respondent's expert¹⁶ testified about causes for the electrical outages of May 30, 2015, and June 13, 2015. While testimony supported the conclusion that the outages were caused by melted wires, (R. p.378, lines 5-17, p.320 lines 17-24, p.223 lines 8-20, p.252, lines 11-18, p.378, lines 5-17), the testimony differed on the melting point of the wire in place on May 30, 2015, and the repaired wire that failed on June 13, 2015 (R. p.248, lines 8-12, pp.277-278, p.416). In contrast to Appellant's assertion that Respondent "provided no credible alternative theory as to the failure of the electric service line" (Brief of Appellant, p. 12) the record contains at least three reasons DEC's wire could have overheated and melted at an amperage level of less than 185 sustained amperes.¹⁷

(a) The 2/0 wire installed had deteriorated (R. p.223, lines 17-20, p.278)

¹⁵ Joel M. Lunsford, General Manager for Upstate South Carolina.

¹⁶ James A. Calhoun, 37 ½ year lineman and retired Head of Electric Division, Greenwood CPW [referred to by Appellant as an "electrician." (Brief of Appellant p. 12.)]

¹⁷ Circumstantial evidence and inferences drawn therefrom may be relied on to support a finding of fact of an administrative agency. *Waters v. S.C. Land Resources Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 224 467 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1995).

- (b) In repairing DEC's service drop on May 30, 2015, the melted portion of the damaged wire was replaced by splicing a new piece of wire into the deteriorated service drop, affecting the load bearing capacity of the entire wire. (R. p.252, lines 2-10, p.245, lines 2-12, p.276, 278, p.327, lines 2-8).
- (c) In repairing DEC's service drop on May 30, 2015, the new wire spliced in could have been a thinner 1/0 wire as 2/0 wire is no longer available. This thinner wire has a lower sustained amperage rating, and this would also have affected the load bearing capacity of the entire wire. (R. p.323, lines 9-13).

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